THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

DEC 23 2014

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Honorable R. Knox McMahon

Case Nos. 2013-CP-21-1334 and 2013-ES-21-190
Appellate Case No. 2013-002810

In the Matter of the Estate of Eris Singletary Smith

In re:

Eris Gail Smith, Appellant,

v.

Judy Smith Jones, Jacquelyn Brown, James Ervin
Smith, Timothy David Smith, Jamie Smith, and
Mikie Smith, Defendants

Of whom Judy Smith Jones is the Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

C. Mitchell Brown
William C. Wood, Jr.
Miles E. Coleman
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH, LLP
Post Office Box 11070
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 799-2000

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err by granting the drastic remedy of summary judgment because there existed genuine issues of material fact regarding undue influence and fraudulent inducement surrounding the decedent's execution of a purported will, and because it was premature to grant the motion before an opportunity for full and fair discovery had been had?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the trial court's grant of summary judgment in a dispute alleging fraud and undue influence relating to the assets and estate of Eris Singletary Smith (hereinafter "the decedent"). On March 13, 2013, two days after the decedent's death, Eris Gail Smith ("Ms. Smith") filed a petition to probate the decedent's will and to be appointed as personal representative. (R. 12.) Later that day, Judy Jones (Ms. Jones") filed a petition to probate a different will purportedly executed by the decedent and to appoint herself as personal representative of the estate. *See Jones Petition* (R. 23).

On April 1, 2013, Ms. Smith filed a petition challenging the purported will brought forward by Ms. Jones, alleging that the purported will was a product of fraudulent inducement and undue influence and that the decedent was unaware she had signed the supposed will. *See Smith Petition* (R. 33). Ms. Jones answered the petition on April 19, 2013. *See Jones Answer* (R. 39). That same day, the probate court temporarily appointed a special administrator to serve until the resolution of the parties' petitions for probate of the wills and for appointment of a personal administrator. *See Order Appointing Special Administrator* (R. 1). On May 14, 2013, the probate court removed the matter to the circuit court. *See Removal Order* (R. 4).

Ms. Jones moved for summary judgment on May 31, 2013, arguing that Ms. Smith had failed to produce any evidence that the decedent was subject to any undue influence or was fraudulently induced to sign the purported will. *See Jones Mot. for SJ* (R. 78). The circuit court held a hearing on August 7, 2013, at which Ms. Smith's attorney argued that summary judgment was inappropriate in part because Ms. Smith had not had the opportunity to complete the scheduled depositions of witnesses whose

testimony would further demonstrate the existence of genuine issues of material fact. *See* Hearing Transcript at 5, 14-15 (R. 54-55). After that hearing, Ms. Smith’s counsel conducted certain examinations under oath (“EOUs”) of a number of the decedent’s relatives, healthcare providers, and friends. On October 8, 2013, Ms. Smith submitted the transcripts of those EOUs to the circuit court in further opposition to the motion for summary judgment. *See* Letter and Filing Letter dated October 8, 2013 (R. 148).

In an order signed on October 22, 2013 and filed two days later, the trial court granted Ms. Jones’ motion for summary judgment and ordered the probate of the purported will and the appointment of Ms. Jones as personal representative. Ms. Smith filed a motion for reconsideration on November 11, 2013. *See* Motion to Reconsider (R. 153). The court denied the motion on December 4, 2013. *See* Order Denying Motion to Reconsider (R. 11). This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS¹

The decedent lived in Effingham, South Carolina, a town located about ten miles from Florence, South Carolina. Several of her children—including Ms. Smith and Ms. Jones—and grandchildren lived and worked nearby. In 2001, the decedent executed a will drafted by Robert E. Lee, an attorney in the nearby town of Marion. *See* Will dated May 30, 2001 (R. 158). At the same time, she executed a power of attorney and a healthcare power of attorney, both of which appointed her son—Almon Wayne Smith—as her agent to manage her affairs and to make health care decisions. *See* Power of

¹ Many of the facts are disputed by the parties. Accordingly, this recitation of the facts sets forth both sides’ views on any matters where the witnesses’ accounts diverge. Of course, the court should construe the facts in the light most favorable to the non-movant, Appellant.

Attorney dated May 30, 2001 (R. 166); Health Care Power of Attorney dated May 30, 2001 (R. 172).

The decedent's son, Wayne, died in July, 2010. *See* Dep. of Eris Smith at 12 (R. 245). The decedent questioned the validity of Wayne's will, which was also drafted by Robert E. Lee, and which differed from what Wayne had told the decedent regarding the disposition of his assets and the appointment of his personal representative. *Id.* at 48, 51 (R. 254 & 255); *see also* EUO of Mary Tompkins at 18 (noting the appointment of Ms. Jones as Wayne's personal representative was a "stickler point" to the decedent, who knew that Ms. Jones "was not the one that was supposed to be the personal representative") (R. 295); EUO of Sharon Graham at 8-12 (R. 308-312); EUO of Rachell Pringle at 16, 18-19 (R. 382, 384-85).

As a result, the decedent harbored suspicions of and animosity toward Robert E. Lee—views she did not change prior to her passing. *See* Dep. of Eris Smith at 92, 102, and 149-50 (discussing the decedent's dislike for Robert E. Lee and quoting the decedent as saying she would not use him for legal work) (R. 265, 268, 279-80); EUO of Mary Tompkins at 11-14 (noting the decedent thought Robert E. Lee had something to do with Wayne's will being changed and that Lee did not deal properly with clients) (R. 288-91); *id.* at 20 (stating the decedent thought that "conniving people" had changed her predeceased brother's will and as a result the decedent would never have relied on Robert E. Lee to prepare her own will) (R. 297); EUO of Sharon Graham at 17 ("You couldn't even say Robert Lee's name around Granny.") (R. 317); *id.* at 19 (noting the decedent harbored suspicion of Robert E. Lee until her death) (R. 319); EUO of Rachell Pringle at 23 (quoting decedent as having said "that she would never get Robert Lee's crooked ass

to ever do anything for her” and noting that “[s]he couldn’t stand him”) (R. 389); *id.* at 24 (noting the decedent did not change her view of Robert E. Lee prior to her death) (R. 390); EUO of Janet Altman at 6-7 (R. 426-27); EUO of Hoyt Smith at 7 (R. 437).²

Because the decedent’s will executed in 2001 named Wayne as her personal representative, his death necessitated a new will. Accordingly, on March 30, 2011, the decedent executed a new will. *See* Will dated March 30, 2011 (R. 175). This will named the decedent’s daughter, Ms. Smith, as personal representative. *Id.* (R. 175). The will was the product of a fairly lengthy and deliberate process in which the decedent paid several visits over a period of weeks to the offices of Rick Hoefer, an attorney in Florence, South Carolina, who drafted the will. *See* Dep. of Eris Smith at 157 (R. 281); EUO of Sharon Graham at 20-21 (R. 320-21); EUO of Hoyt Smith at 15:19-25 (R. 439). The decedent kept her copy of this will hidden under her mattress. *See* EUO of Sharon Graham at 42-43 (R. 342-43).³

About six months later, on October 18, 2011, decedent’s granddaughter, Becky, took her to Marion, South Carolina, ostensibly for brunch. *See* Dep. of Eris Smith at 76 (R. 261); Dep. of Pam Jordan at 7 (R. 198); EUO of Sharon Graham at 23 (R. 323). The decedent had been very recently diagnosed with cancer.⁴ *See* Dep. of Eris Smith at 12

² Ms. Jones’ testimony about these facts is in stark contrast to the testimony of the witnesses cited above. *See* Dep. of Judy Jones at 43-45 (stating the decedent considered Robert E. Lee to be her attorney and was never angry about him) (R. 228).

³ The decedent’s copy of the March 30, 2011 will disappeared several weeks prior to the decedent’s death, right around the time Ms. Jones and her associates dismantled the decedent’s bed, ostensibly to make way for a hospital bed. *See* EUO of Sharon Graham at 42-43 (R. 342-43).

⁴ The decedent, who at this time was in her 80s, was dependent on the assistance of paid local caregivers. *See* EUO of Sharon Graham at 3-4 (R. 303-04); EUO of Rachell Pringle at 3-4 (R. 369-70). After her diagnosis with cancer, this in-home care continued until the

(noting that the diagnosis was made in “the early fall of 2011”) (R. 245). While in Marion, Becky suggested they visit the law office of Robert E. Lee, where Becky’s sister, Pam—another of decedent’s granddaughters⁵—worked as a paralegal, so decedent could execute a healthcare power of attorney. *See* Dep. of Eris Smith at 119-20 (R. 272); EUO of Rachell Pringle at 29-30, 34 (R. 395-96, 400). While decedent was at Robert Lee’s office, Becky was allegedly called back to work, so she left the decedent—with no independent means of transportation—at Robert E. Lee’s office, for Pam, the paralegal granddaughter, to take home. Dep. of Pam Jordan at 7-8 (R. 198).

The parties’ and witnesses’ testimony differs as to what happened next. According to Ms. Jones, after being left at Robert E. Lee’s office, the decedent supposedly prepared and executed a new will naming Ms. Jones as personal representative, and executed a new healthcare power of attorney naming Ms. Jones as the decedent’s agent to make healthcare decisions. *See* Will dated October 18, 2011 (R. 180); Health Care Power of Attorney dated October 18, 2011 (R. 185) According to Ms. Jones and the witnesses she relies upon, the decedent knowingly and intentionally executed this will. For example, Robert E. Lee testified that he spoke with the decedent, had her write down her wishes for the disposition of her assets, and then had his staff—namely, Pam, the daughter of the newly named personal representative—prepare the will. *See* Affidavit of Robert E. Lee at ¶¶ 2-6 (R. 80-81); Dep. of Pam Jordan at 6 (R. 198); Dep. of Cyrus Sloan at 16-17 (R. 212). Similarly, Ms. Jones testified that she had a discussion with the

time of her death and was supplemented by the in-home private nursing company Nightingale’s Nursing and Attendants in the final few months of decedent’s life. *See* Dep. of Eris Smith at 13, 16-17 (R. 245, 246).

⁵ Both Becky and Pam are Ms. Jones’ daughters.

decedent in which the decedent stated she was confident in her choice of Ms. Jones as personal representatives. *See* Dep. of Judy Jones at 40 (R. 227).

Other testimony, however, on which Appellant relies, reveals that the decedent had no intent to sign yet another will and did not realize she had done so. When the decedent returned home, she was extremely agitated, and the next day stated she had signed lots of papers but was unsure what she had signed. *See* Dep. of Eris Smith at 112 (“She didn’t know she had signed a will. My mother never said she went to Marion to sign a will.”) (R. 270); EUO of Sharon Graham at 25-26 (R. 325-26); EUO of Janet Altman at 5 (“She had no idea what she signed.”) (R. 425). The decedent’s confusion and agitation was exacerbated by the fact that Robert E. Lee’s office had not and would not provide her with a copy of any of the documents she had signed. *See* EUO of Janet Altman at 5 (“[S]he was highly upset. Because she could not get a copy of it or anything for her peace of mind to know what she had signed.”) (R. 425).

Yet again, the witnesses’ testimony differs as to why no copies had been provided or were forthcoming after the decedent requested them. The decedent’s caretaker testified that the decedent called Robert E. Lee’s office to request copies of any documents she had signed and that Pam—who worked at that law office—promised, but failed, to provide copies of the documents. *See* EUO of Sharon Graham at 27-30, 59-60 (R. 327-30, 359-60). In contrast, Pam—who drafted the will naming her mother as personal representative—testified that the decedent did not take a copy of the will when she left because she did not want anyone to know about the will. *See* Dep. of Pam Jordan at 25 (R. 202). In addition, Pam denied that the decedent had called to request a copy of any documents, testifying that the decedent had called to be sure Robert E. Lee’s office had a

copy of her will and that the disposition of her assets included distribution to two grandchildren. *Id.* at 25-26 (R. 202-03).

Over the course of the next year, the decedent made numerous statements indicating her belief that her true and effective will was the March 30, 2011 will drafted by Rick Hoefer. *See* Dep. of Eris Smith at 106:20-24 (R. 269); EUO of Janet Altman at 8-10 (R. 428-30); *see also* EUO of Mary Tompkins at 8-9 (stating that in October of 2012, when the decedent explained to all the beneficiaries how her house would be disposed of, that explanation mirrored the March 30, 2011 will, not the October 18, 2011 will, and that the decedent had stated she did *not* intend for the two grandchildren to be included) (R. 285-86).

Similarly, the testimony indicates the decedent did not intend for Ms. Jones to be the personal representative of her estate and did not think that was the case. *See* Dep. of Eris Smith at 86-87 (noting that in February of 2013, when the decedent heard that Judy was claiming to be “over her estate,” the decedent was furious) (R. 264); EUO of Sharon Graham at 19 (noting that when the decedent heard that Judy was claiming to be “over everything,” the decedent stated “the H you is”) (R. 319); EUO of Rachell Pringle at 42 (quoting the decedent as telling Judy “I wouldn’t dare put you . . . over anything with me” and “I wouldn’t put you over—any damn thing over me”) (R. 403); *id.* at 46-47 (noting that the decedent told others that when she died, Ms. Smith was to be over her affairs) (R. 407-08); EUO of Janet Altman at 12-14 (R. 432-33). Likewise, in January of 2013, when the decedent learned that Ms. Jones and Ms. Jones’ daughter, Becky, were named in her healthcare power of attorney, she became extremely upset. *See* Dep. of Eris Smith at 64-65 (R. 258).

The decedent passed away on March 11, 2013. Immediately thereafter, Ms. Jones recruited several friends to go into the store adjacent to the decedent's home, which was previously operated by the decedent and her late husband. *Id.* at 66-67 (R. 259). This group did not call Ms. Smith—the only person with a key to the store—but instead went to great lengths to remove the store's security measures and to gain access into locked containers within the store.⁶ *Id.* at 69-71 (R. 259-60). Ms. Jones conducted this operation without calling Ms. Smith because Ms. Jones wished “to show her that I'm in charge now.” *Id.* at 71 (R. 260). This store contained a large number of valuable objects, including numerous old Federal Reserve notes and other items. *See* Dep. of Eris Smith at 96-97 (r. 266); *see also id.* at 51-52 (R. 255); Dep. of Judy Jones at 74-82 (R. 236-38); EUO of Hoyt Smith at 13-15 (R. 438-39).

On March 13, 2013, Ms. Smith filed a petition to probate the March 30, 2011 will and to appoint herself as the personal representative of the estate. On that same date, Ms. Jones filed a petition to probate the October 18, 2011 will and to appoint herself as personal representative of the estate. This litigation followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Summary judgment is a drastic remedy which should be cautiously invoked so that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues.” *Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Ctr., Inc.*, 371 S.C. 123, 134, 638 S.E.2d 650, 655 (2006). (citing *Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 543 (1991)). A trial court may properly grant a motion for summary judgment only when “the

⁶ Ms. Smith had previously installed those security measures at the decedent's request, because the decedent did not wish for the Joneses and Browns to have access to the store. *See* EUO of Mary Tompkins at 19-20 (R. 296-97); *see also* EUO of Hoyt Smith at 10 (R. 438).

pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Rule 56(c), SCRCP; *see also Madison*, 371 S.C. at 134, 638 S.E.2d at 655 (2006).

“In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *Madison*, 371 S.C. at 134, 638 S.E.2d at 655 (citing *Manning v. Quinn*, 294 S.C. 383, 365 S.E.2d 24 (1988)). In a dispute alleging that a will was the product of fraud or undue influence, summary judgment is not appropriate if there is conflicting evidence or testimony regarding the influence exerted on the testator or the circumstances surrounding the will. *See Howard v. Nasser*, 354 S.C. 279, 291, 613 S.E.2d 64, 70 (Ct. App. 2005).

ARGUMENT

The Trial Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment because such was Premature and because there Existed Genuine Issues of Material Fact Precluding Summary Judgment.

Summary judgment is a “drastic remedy” that should not be used to deprive a litigant of his or her day in court to resolve disputed factual issues. *Madison*, 371 S.C. at 134, 638 S.E.2d at 655. Here, despite the numerous material factual disputes presented to the trial court, and despite the fact that Ms. Smith’s counsel explained that further discovery was needed to flesh out these factual disputes, the trial court nevertheless imposed the drastic remedy of summary judgment to deprive Ms. Smith of the opportunity for a jury to determine whether the October 18, 2011 will was a product of fraudulent inducement or undue influence.

In the Order granting summary judgment, the trial court concluded there were no issues of material fact as to whether any acts exerted on the decedent destroyed her free will, amounted to force or coercion, or fraudulently induced her to sign the supposed will. *See* Order at 4-5 (R. 8-9). This ruling ignores the glaring factual disputes over the critical questions of whether the decedent wished to execute a new will, whether she was tricked into signing the purported will, whether she even knew what she had signed, and whether the document she signed actually reflected her wishes.

As to the question of whether the decedent actually wished to execute a will on October 18, 2011 or whether she was compelled to do so, the witnesses' testimony is irreconcilably conflicting and raises unavoidable questions of material facts. According to attorneys Robert E. Lee and Cyrus Sloan, the decedent intended to execute a will, deliberately did so, and was aware of what she was doing. *See* Affidavit of Robert E. Lee at 1-2 (R. 80); Dep. of Cyrus Sloan at 4-6; (R. 209-10). The decedent's granddaughter, Pam Jordan, who worked for Robert E. Lee, likewise stated that the decedent approached her shortly before October 18, 2011 with the desire of changing her will. *See* Dep. of Pam. Jordan at 4-5 (R. 197).

In contrast, numerous witnesses testified exactly the opposite—that the decedent had no intention to execute a new will, was unaware she had signed a will, and thought that her prior will from March 30, 2011 was still in effect. *See; e.g.*, Dep. of Eris Smith at 106:20-24 (“Granny had kept telling me and Sharon since January . . . Granny says, oh, no. My – my will is at Mr. Hoefler’s office.”) (R. 269); *id.* at 112 (“She didn’t know she had signed a will. My mother never said she went to Marion to sign a will.”) (R. 270); *id.* at 147:12-20 (testifying that the decedent did not know what she signed) (R. 279); *id.* at

149:9-15 (recounting decedent's insistence that Ms. Jones was not, in fact, the personal representative named in her will) (R. 279); EUO of Sharon Graham at 26:12-20 (recounting conversation with decedent immediately after she returned from Robert E. Lee's office and was confused about what papers she had signed) (R. 326); EUO of Janet Altman at 5 ("She had no idea what she signed.") (R. 425); *id.* at 8:25-9:11 ("[B]ottom line was, she didn't know what she'd signed. . . . She did not know that it was a will or what document. She just told me, I don't know what documents I signed. . . . She just knowed that – that her will was in Mr. Hoefer's office.") (R. 428-29).

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