RECEIVED

DEC 19 2014

Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-21-1334 and Case No. 2013-ES-21-190
Appellate Case No.: 2013-002810

In the Matter of the Estate of Eris Singletary Smith

In re:

Eris Gail Smith,.....Appellant,

v.

Judy Smith Jones, Jacqueline Brown, James Ervin Smith
Timothy David Smith, Jamie Smith and Mikie Smith, Defendants

Of whom Judy Smith Jones is the.....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

J. René Josey, Esquire
Jeffrey L. Payne, Esquire
TURNER, PADGET, GRAHAM & LANEY, P. A.
319 S. Irby Street

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

¹¹ Obviously, the entirety of Appellant's claim now rest on the untested out-of-court summaries and opinions of the Appellant and others, including the decedent's sitters who owe Appellant money. R.p. 248 (Appellant's Deposition p. 22 lines 2-8). Most of these summaries and opinions include alleged comments by the decedent to these declarants – untested hearsay within untested hearsay. Even if these alleged comments weren't barred by the formality required by Rule 56(e), and weren't barred by the Rule against hearsay (SCRE 802), they would likely be barred by the South Carolina Dead Man Statute, codified in South Carolina at S.C. Code § 19-11-20. This statute codifies an evidentiary rule that relates to the competency of a witness to testify about certain matters. The statute exists to prevent interested parties from offering self-serving, incontrovertible testimony that may be unreliable. Harris v Berry, 231 S.C. 201, 98 S.E.2d 251 (1957)(in a will contest case, the trial court improperly excluded non-testimonial letters of decedent pursuant to dead man's statute but indicating that "had any of the letters in question been lost, the witness could not have testified, over objection, to its contents.") ; Trimmier v Thomson, 41 S.C. 125, 19 S.E. 291(1894). Specifically, a competency objection may be raised by the decedent's representatives to prohibit a person or party with an interest in the matter from testifying about communications or transactions with another person who is deceased at the time of such testimony.

¹² This concession renders the protections of Rule 56(f) (for justifiably unavailable witnesses) not applicable – and indeed, this provision has not been argued by the Appellant.

There Was No Genuine Issue of Material Fact

In the instant case, the Appellant has provided no evidence of any acts of undue influence exerted upon the decedent. That is because there were no such acts. There were no acts that destroyed the decedent's free agency or that amounted to force and coercion upon her. In contrast, the Respondent has offered the testimony of the two attorneys who meticulously reviewed with the decedent, her estate plan and her will. Respondent has also offered the testimony of the employees who met with the decedent when she came to their office to sign the will. All of the attorneys have testified that no such undue influence existed, and the other parties who observed and spoke with the decedent on October 18, 2011 testified that the decedent was relaxed and under no duress to sign the Lee will.

Without proof of any *actual* undue influence, Appellant's Brief seeks to somehow create a presumption of undue influence so that Appellant may avoid facing her burden of proof. Appellant cites the case of Howard v. Nasser, 364 S.C. 279, 613 S.E.2d 64 (Ct. App.2005) wherein this Court recognized a presumption for the first time in the context of a will where the alleged wrongdoer is in a confidential relationship with the testator; previous cases had recognized such a presumption with regard to claims of undue influence over real estate conveyances (deeds).¹³

¹³ Notably, the presumption recognized by Nasser does not remove the burden of proof from the party challenging the will but rather only shifts the intermediate burden of going forward to the party offering the will if the presumption is triggered. 364 S.C. at 288-289, 613 S.E.2d at 68-69 (noting that this is consistent with statutory provisions and previous case law)(S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-407 (Supp. 2004) ("Parties have the ultimate burden of persuasion as to matters with respect to which they have the initial burden of proof."); Calhoun v. Calhoun, 277 S.C. 527, 530, 290 S.E.2d 415, 417 (1982)("The contestants continue to bear the burden of proof throughout the will contest."); Smith v. Whetstone, 209 S.C. 78, 84, 39 S.E.2d 127, 129 (1946) (stating in case where will is formally executed the burden of proof is on the contestant to prove undue influence "and this burden remains on him to the end"))).

In Nasser, the new presumption resulted in the reversal of summary judgment for the decedent's spouse who held decedent's power of attorney. That fiduciary spouse was also the primary beneficiary under the decedent's challenged will. No such facts exist in this case.

First, it is unclear whether the Appellant suggests the undue influence came from the Respondent or from the Respondent's daughters who provided the decedent transportation to the execution of the Lee will. Regardless, there is no evidence in the record that either the Respondent or her daughters served as any kind of general fiduciary or attorney-in-fact for the decedent prior to the execution of the Lee will. More importantly, none of these alleged wrongdoers benefitted from the updated Lee will – the Respondent received less as acknowledged by the Appellant and the transporting granddaughters are not in the Lee will at all. Rather than receive any benefit, the Respondent received the administrative burden of carrying out her mother's intentions.

In addition to a confidential relationship, Nasser requires some "suspicious circumstances" in the "preparation, formulation, or execution" of the relevant documents. In Nasser, these circumstances included (1) physical infirmity as a result of a terminal illness; (2) a significant difference from his two prior wills; (3) the wrongdoer wife was present at the meetings with the attorneys to discuss the contents of the new will; (4) Nasser's relationships and visits with family were limited after remarriage to the alleged wrongdoer; (5) someone was suspected of monitoring Nasser's telephone conversations; and (6) an attorney refused to draft Nasser's new will because he believed Nasser was troubled by the changes.

The existing case offers no circumstances remotely close to those of Nasser. While aging and *successfully* fighting cancer (discussed *infra* page 25), the decedent was not so physically limited like Mr. Nasser – in fact, Appellant testified that she told her mother to drive up to Mr. Hoefler's office rather than rely on attorney Lee for a free Healthcare Power Of

Attorney. R. p. 261 (Appellant's Deposition p. 76 lines 1-20) ("You got a car. Sharon's there. Go get it done."). Also unlike Nasser, the new will here was not significantly different from the prior wills – the most significant change – the addition of two specific grandchildren – was something that Appellant knew her mother had considered and Appellant had expressed no objection to such change. R. p. 273 (Appellant's Deposition p. 122 lines 5-20 (Appellant's deposition) ("I don't have a problem with that, Granny. It's your money. You do what you want with it."). Unlike Mr. Nasser's new wife, the Respondent was not present for the discussion or execution of the decedent's new will. There is also no proof that the decedent's contact with Appellant or others was cut-off or monitored; to the contrary, the Appellant's belated EUO's suggest that she – the Appellant – had the most contact with the decedent (perhaps explaining the decedent's desire for confidentiality and choice of a different personal representative). Finally, unlike Nasser, no attorney was uncomfortable with the decedent's desire to update her will; to the contrary, two different attorneys verified her desire to do so.

The suspicious circumstances suggested by Appellant's Brief (page 12) are not unusual at all. First, the Appellant suggests that the decedent was "lured" away to Mr. Lee's office and then abandoned there. *Not one of the actual participants in the trip and visit to Mr. Lee's office describe the events so diabolically.* Moreover, it simply isn't accurate to say that decedent had no plan to visit an attorney's office – not only did Pam Jordan testify that her grandmother requested the opportunity to update her will with Mr. Lee (R.pp. 197-198 (Jordan deposition p. 4 line 13 to p. 6 line 2)), but the Appellant herself admitted knowing of a plan to visit Mr. Lee's office. R.p. 261 (Appellant's deposition p. 76 lines 1-20). Whether the decedent chose to withhold the true purpose (or full purpose) of the meeting from her ever-present daughter (the Appellant) is of no moment, the point is that she wasn't "lured" away – and Appellant knew it.

Appellant also confirmed she had no evidence that the decedent was forced. R.p. 278 (Appellant's deposition p. 142 lines 12 – 17). Furthermore, the decedent was not abandoned or forced to participate in the will update when she arrived at Mr. Lee's office – she freely chose to participate – even writing out detailed instructions in her own handwriting; not only did the witnesses advise that decedent was under no coercion, the Appellant admitted that decedent was capable of saying “no” or refusing to even go. R.p. 278 (Appellant's deposition 142 line 12 to p. 145 line 5).

As for Appellant's claim that the decedent was “fraudulently induced” to execute the Lee will, Appellant again failed to provide any evidence of such fraudulent inducement. Moreover, there are no known decisions in South Carolina that support such a claim with regard to a last will and testament. Such a claim is a contractual claim. See generally, Baeza v. Robert E. Lee Chrysler Plymouth, 309 S.E.2d 363 (S.C. Ct.App. 1983).

In her Brief (page 13), the Appellant quotes from a secondary legal source in support of the existence of such claim “if it can be shown that a will was induced by the fraudulent representation made by a person benefiting from the will....” Appellant suggests that the fraudulent representation was the indication that the decedent was being taken to brunch, but that representation, if made, hardly serves as an “inducement” to do anything other than eat. Given the overwhelming evidence of the decedent's intent demonstrated at Mr. Lee's office, the “misrepresentation” of brunch seems more likely to have been used, if at all, by the decedent to distract officious relatives and caregivers. Finally, as noted above, the Respondent and her daughters are not benefitted by the updated Lee will but rather burdened by it. Accordingly, the trial court's summary judgment with regard to the fraudulent inducement claim is fully supported in the actual record of this matter – or the expanded record urged by Appellant and discussed below.

II. ALTHOUGH THEY CREATE NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT, THIS COURT SHOULD NOT CONSIDER THE LATE MEMORANDUM, AFFIDAVIT, AND “STATEMENTS UNDER OATH” SUBMITTED BY APPELLANT AFTER THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT RECORD WAS CLOSED.

Disappointed with the “just, speedy, and inexpensive determination”¹⁴ of this matter, the Appellant has sought to alter that determination by reaching beyond the evidentiary record fairly presented and considered by the trial court at the summary judgment hearing pursuant to the directives of Rule 56 SCRPC. Specifically, after failing to garner evidence to support her hurriedly¹⁵ asserted claim in the more than 120 days between filing that claim and having it considered for summary judgment, the Appellant rushed out after the Court’s hearing, without notice or participation by the Respondent (or any other sibling), and secured “Examinations Under Oath” (again “EUO”) from various persons seeking to belatedly support the will challenge that she filed without evidentiary support – as the trial court properly concluded in granting summary judgment.

These EUO’s were filed with the Clerk and e-mailed to the Court prior to the execution of the formal written order – but not without objection from Respondent’s counsel. R.p. 150 (Objection email of October 9, 2013). Ultimately, the Court issued its written order of summary judgment restating the determination previously made (at the hearing) based upon the record previously made – the Court did not address the belated EUO’s. R.pp. 5 – 10 (Order of October 2013). Notably, the trial court’s order denying the Motion to Reconsider did not even consider the Appellant’s belated submissions which were not submitted pursuant to Rule 60(b)(2) as

¹⁴ Again, this bedrock principle is found in Rule 1, SCRPC.

¹⁵ As outlined in the Statement of the Case above, the Appellant’s claim was asserted a little more than two weeks after mother’s death.

newly discovered evidence and are not allowed under the extensive case law prohibiting a party from raising new matter in the context of a Rule 59(e) motion.¹⁶

In addition to the EUO's, the Appellant submitted a supplemental memorandum opposing summary judgment – judgment that had already been granted from the bench. This supplemental memorandum, R.pp. 131 – 144 (item 13 on the Appellant's amended designation), was accompanied by an affidavit of counsel. R.pp. 145 – 147 (item 14 of the Appellant's amended designation). This affidavit represents another belated evidentiary submission not considered by the Court prior to its ruling and not part of the record prior to its ruling. While the affidavit summarizes witness interviews (much as counsel had attempted at the hearing), it offered no justification for failing to comply with Rule 56; of course, counsel had already conceded the lack of any justifiable unavailability (per Rule 56(e), at the hearing. R. p. 55 lines 1-3 (Hearing transcript).

The supplemental memorandum with its new affidavit and these EUO's were not before the Court prior to its ruling and were not considered by the Court in the closed record existing

¹⁶ Brailsford v. Brailsford, 380 S.C. 443, 448, 669 S.E.2d 342, 344 (Ct. App. 2008) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). “An issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider.” Johnson v. Sonoco Products Co., 381 S.C. 172, 177, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2008). “A party cannot use a motion to reconsider to present an issue he could have raised prior to judgment but did not.” Anderson Memorial Hospital, Inc. v. Hagen, 313 S.C. 497, 443 S.E.2d 399 (Ct. App. 1994); see also C.A.H. v. L.H., 315 S.C. 389, 434 S.E.2D 268, 270 (1993) (“party cannot use Rule 59(e) to present to the court an issue the party could have raised prior to judgment, but did not.”); MailSource, LLC v. Bailey & Assoc., Inc., 356 S.C. 370 374, 588 S.E.2d 639, 641 (Ct. App. 2003). Moreover, in West v. Gladney, 341 S.C. 127, 533 S.E.2d 334 (Ct. App. 2000), this Court specifically affirmed a trial court's non-consideration of a late affidavit filed outside of the “time required by Rule 56” and without “any good excuse for that failure.” See also Black v. Lexington School District No. 2, 327 S.C. 55, 488 S.E.2d 327 (1997) (our Supreme Court also affirming trial court's rejection of a late affidavit). Again, Respondent notes that an unpublished opinion of this Court arising from this same county has affirmed the non-consideration of new exhibits submitted for the first time with a Rule 59(e) motion. (Respondent is aware that SCACR 268(d)(2) provides that unpublished opinions should not be cited as precedent and only mentions it, without citation, because of its unique facts similar to those at bar).

upon his reconsideration of summary judgment. Thus, these items are not proper for consideration here and the Respondent asks this Court to disregard them as not properly part of the Record submitted in this appeal and disregard any argument dependent upon them found in the Appellant's Initial Brief.¹⁷

SUBMISSIONS ARE NOT NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE

Barred by her own concessions from making a continuance request based on Rule 56(e) unavailability, the Appellant could have moved pursuant to Rule 60(b)(2) seeking relief from the Court's August 7th announced order (formalized on October 22, 2013). The trial court could have then directly addressed whether the "newly discovered evidence" was such that it "could not have been discovered in time" for proper procedural consideration at the scheduled summary judgment hearing and whether such submission was "made within a reasonable time" as required by all Rule 60 motions. Of course Respondent would have objected to a Rule 60(b)(2) effort as untimely and unwarranted, but this would have been the direct, candid approach to trying to supplement the record. Appellant instead chose to try and make these statements part of the Record on Appeal – knowing that they are not truly "newly discovered" but rather only "freshly sought" following her trial court loss.

¹⁷ SCACR 210(c) provides in part "The Record shall not, however, include matter which was not presented to the lower court or tribunal." While the objectionable materials here were filed and were presented, they were not filed and not presented in a timely manner consistent with the purposes of the SCRCP and was not filed or presented before the ruling on appeal.

THE DEFERRED MOTION TO STRIKE IN THIS COURT

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